IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellee,)
)
 v.) S.CT. NO.16-1980
)
 DUSTIN JAMES ORTIZ,)
)
 Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE JEANIE K. VAUDT, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH
State Appellate Defender

STEPHAN J. JAPUNTICH
Assistant Appellate Defender
sjapuntich@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GIVING JURY INSTRUCTIONS 19 (ROBBERY 2ND) AND 20 (ROBBERY 3RD) AS THE INSTRUCTIONS DESCRIBED OFFENSES WHICH REQUIRE THE SAME ACTS?

Authorities

Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Frei, 831 N.W.2d 70, 73 (Iowa 2013)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Marshall, 2016 WL 4803763 at *1
(Iowa Ct. App. September 16, 2016)

United States v. Sanchez Guerrero, 546 F.3d 328, 332
(5th Cir.2008)

United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 150 (2006)

Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 307-09, 111 S.Ct. 1246,
1264-65, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991)

State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549, 559-59 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa R. Crim. Proc. 2.24(2)(b)(5)

Iowa R. Crim. Proc. 2.24(2)(b)(7)

State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288, 297 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Becker, 818 N.W.2d 135, 141 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Mays, 204 N.W.2d 862, 865 (Iowa 1973)

Iowa Code § 708.1(2) (2015)

U.S. v. Campbell, 410 F.3d 456, 461 (8th Cir. 2005)

United States v. Rodgers, 18 F.3d 1425, 1429 (8th Cir.1994)

Iowa Code § 902.8 (2015)

Iowa Code § 902.9 (2015)

Iowa Code § 902.12 (2015)

Iowa Const. art. I § 9

State v. Seering, 701 N.W.2d 655, 662 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Effler, 769 N.W.2d 880, 895 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Pace, 602 N.W.2d 764, 771 (Iowa 1999)

II. WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO PROVE AN ASSAULT TOOK PLACE AS ORTIZ NEVER FACED THE COMPLAINING WITNESS AND MADE NO THREATENING MOVEMENTS WITH THE KNIFE, NEITHER DID ORTIZ THREATEN THE COMPLAINING WITNESS? WAS THE VERDICT INCONSISTENT WITH THE EVIDENCE AND THE FACTUAL BASIS FOR STATE'S CHARGING DECISION?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997)

Iowa Code § 711.2 (2015)

Iowa Code § 711.3 (2015)

Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction No. 1100.2

Iowa Code § 711.3A (2016)

Iowa Code § 708.1(2) (2015)

Iowa Code § 708.1(2) (2015)

State v. Heard, 636 N.W.2d 227, 231 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Keeton, 710 N.W.2d 531, 534 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Taylor, 140 Iowa 470, 118 N.W. 747, 748-49
(Iowa 1908)

State v. Halstead, 791 N.W.2d 805, 815-16 (Iowa 2010)

**III. WAS COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO OBJECT
TO THE STATUTES SUPPORTING JURY INSTRUCTIONS 19
AND 20 AS BEING UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND
OVERBROAD?**

Authorities

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Kellogg, 263 N.W.2d 539, 543 (Iowa 1978)

U.S. Const. Amend. VI

U.S. Const. Amend. XIV

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063, 80 L.Ed2d 674, 692 (1984)

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 1981)

Iowa Const. Art. I § 10

State v. Brueggar, 773 N.W.2d 862, 883 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Buck, 510 N.W.2d 850, 853 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Bass, 385 N.W.2d 243, 245 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Goff, 342 N.W.2d 830, 838 (Iowa 1983)

Iowa Code § 711.3A (2016)

Iowa Code § 711.3 (2015)

State v. Wiederien, 709 N.W.2d 538, 542 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Reed, 618 N.W.2d 327, 332 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Hunter, 550 N.W.2d 460, 463 (Iowa 1996) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Robinson, 618 N.W.2d 306 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Musser, 721 N.W.2d 734, 745 (Iowa 2006)

City of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 52, 119 S.Ct. 1849, 1857, 144 L.Ed.2d 67, 77-78 (1999)

Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction No. 1100.2

Iowa Code § 708.1(2)

Iowa Code § 708.1(2)(b)

State v. Cox, 781 N.W.2d 757, 761 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601, 602, 93 S.Ct. 2908, 2911, 37 L.Ed.2d 830 (U.S. 1973)

State v. Price, 237 N.W.2d 813, 816 (Iowa 1976)

U.S. v. Reese, 92 U.S. 214, 220, 2 Otto 214, 23 L.Ed. 563 (U.S. 1875)

Iowa Const. Art. III § I

Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108-09, 92 S.Ct. 2294, 2299, 33 L.Ed.2d 222 (U.S. 1972)

State v. Pace, 602 N.W.2d 764, 771 (Iowa 1999)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because this case involves substantial issues of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c).

1. Is it possible to ascertain a difference in the acts required pursuant to Robbery in the Second Degree and Robbery in the Third Degree based upon the statutes in question?
2. Can a determination that an assault occurred be based upon facts wherein the suspect, although carrying a knife, is running from the victim, does not face the victim and does not speak to the victim?
3. Are Iowa Code §§ 711.1, 711.3 and 711.3A when considered together, void for vagueness and/or overly broad?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal from conviction of the offense of Robbery in the Second Degree in Violation of Iowa Code §§ 711.1 and 711.3 (2015).

Course of Proceedings: Mr. Ortiz was charged with Robbery in the First Degree in Violation of Iowa Code §§ 711.1 and 711.2 (2015)¹ by trial information on July 22, 2016. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-5).

On July 26, 2016, Mr. Ortiz filed a written arraignment in which he demanded his right to speedy trial. (Written Arraignment) (App. pp. 6-8).

The case went to trial and the jury returned a verdict of guilty of the lesser-included offense of second degree robbery. (Verdict Forms) (App. pp. 17-18).

On November 11, 2008, Mr. Ortiz was sentenced to serve

¹ All citations to the Iowa Code refer to the 2015 edition unless noted otherwise.

a term of incarceration consisting of 25 years. (11/08/16 Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 25-28).

A notice of appeal was filed on November 18, 2016. (Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 29-30).

Facts: Patricia Chavez is the owner of Estrellita Fashion, a clothing store, located at 2501 Easton Boulevard, Des Moines Iowa. (Tr. pp. 145 L 21-23, 148 L 6-16).

Chavez was working in the store alone on June 15, 2016, when she observed a man taking an item of clothing that was displayed outside. (Tr. pp. 148 L 17-25, 149 L 1-14, 157 L 15-25, 158 L 1-1-9, Exhibit 11 picture of store outside, State's Exhibit 1 Skirt) (App. pp. 12, 3).

Chavez ran after the man who she described as being tall, thin, white, wearing a black shirt, a Dickie and black shorts and carrying a backpack. (Tr. pp. 151 L 11-25, 152 L 1-12). According to Chavez, the man brandished a knife. (Tr. p. 152 L 13-24). She went back to the store, locked herself inside

and called police. (Tr. pp. 153 L 13-17, 156 L 3-8, 158 L 22-25, 159 L 1-1-7).

She was not able to observe the man's face; however, the police took her to a location where Ortiz was detained and she identified him. (Tr. pp. 152 L 25, 153 L 1, 160 L 6-25, 161 L 1-4). Ortiz was wearing shorts identical to those worn by the individual who absconded with the skirt. (Tr. p. 161 L 5-22, Exhibits 4 and 5 photographs of Dustin Ortiz) (App. pp. 4-6).

However, she was not certain that the man who the police were detaining was the same man who took the skirt as he was not wearing the shirt she had previously seen. (Tr. p. 167 L 9-15).

Chavez was somewhat ambiguous in identifying the knife used stating "I think it could be this one..." indicating State's Exhibit 8. Chavez could not supply the necessary foundation for the admission of Exhibit 8 into evidence. (Tr. pp. 164 L 16-25, 165 L 1-25, 166 L 1-9, Exhibit 8 photograph of knife) (App. p. 10).

At trial Chavez testified that she saw the individual in question take the skirt from the mannequin while sewing with a machine. However, when she was deposed, Chavez testified that she heard a noise and then went outside where she observed the individual in question passing by. (Tr. pp. 168 L 4-25, 169-171 L 1-25, 172 L 1-5).

The door to the establishment is far to the left of the scene depicted in State's Exhibit 11. Defendant's Exhibit A, a picture of the store, was shown to Chavez and she admitted that the door was not visible in that picture and that she had to go around the corner to get to the alley. (Tr. pp. 180 L 10-25, 181 L 1-24).

Chavez admitted that when she got outside, the individual was already running away (although later she said he was walking) and ran around the back of the store where she yelled at him. (Tr. pp. 172 L 6-25, 173-174 L 1-25, State's Exhibit 11 photo of store, State's Exhibit 12 photo of rear of store) (App. pp. 12-13). She noted he was wearing a

hat, but did not observe him to be wearing headphones. (Tr. p. 175 L 1-9).

Chavez testified that she got to within 10 feet of the man at which time she observed the knife; he was facing away from her. (Tr. pp. 175 L 10-25, 176 L 1-4). The man never stopped and turned toward her, nor did he make any threatening movements with the knife. (Tr. p. 176 L 5-16).

Chavez admitted that she did not get a good look at the knife and she estimated that it was about 4-5 inches in length. (Tr. pp. 178 L 10-25, 179 L 1-3).

Brian Vance is employed as a sergeant with the Des Moines Police Department. (Tr. pp. 185 L 19-21, 186 L 10-13). On June 15, 2016, he was dispatched to a robbery on Easton Boulevard. (Tr. pp. 186 L 24-25, 187 L 1-18).

The description given to the police was of a white man, tall, black hair and carrying a black backpack. (Tr. pp. 187 L 19-25, 188 L 1- 4). Another officer observed an individual matching the description, so Vance went to the 2200 block of

East 27th to meet him. The individual detained was Mr. Ortiz.

(Tr. pp. 188 L 20-25, 189 L 1-25, 190 L 1-12, State's Exhibits 4 & 5 photos of Dustin James Ortiz) (App. pp. 4-6).

According to Vance, Ortiz told him he had just exited the bus from the south side and was going to a friend's house.

(Tr. pp. 190 L 18-25, 191 L 1-6). Vance patted Ortiz down and discovered a knife in the front pocket of his shorts. (Tr. p. 191 L 7-21, State's Exhibit 8 photo of knife) (App. p. 10).

Additionally, Vance discovered an item matching the description of that which Chavez claimed was stolen. (Tr. p. 194 L 20-24).

Detective Matt Towers, of the Des Moines Police Department, testified that after Ortiz was arrested, he tendered a pocketknife to Towers. (Tr. pp. 198 L 14-25, 199 L 1-6, 200 L 1-21, State's Exhibit 7 photo of pocketknife) (App. pp. 8-9). Towers admitted that it is not unusual for individuals to carry pocketknives on their persons. (Tr. p. 202 L 1-5).

Tim Coughenower, of the Des Moines Police Department, was summoned to the scene of the incident and talked to Patricia Chavez. (Tr. pp. 202 L 15-17, 204 L 19-24). He transported Chavez to the location at which Ortiz was being detained. (Tr. pp. 207 L 1-25, 208 L 1-15, State's Exhibits 4 and 5 photographs of Ortiz) (App. pp. 4-6).

Coughenower admitted that Chavez was "...hesitant in initially making an identification..." (Tr. pp. 210 L 22-25, 211 L 1-7). It appeared to him that she was able to identify the backpack. (Tr. p. 211 L 2-4).

On cross-examination Vance admitted that, consistent with his deposition testimony, he never spoke to Patricia Chavez. (Tr. pp. 197 L 11-25, 198 L 1-4).

Additional relevant facts will be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GIVING JURY INSTRUCTIONS 19 (ROBBERY 2ND) AND 20 (ROBBERY 3RD) AS THE INSTRUCTIONS DESCRIBED OFFENSES WHICH REQUIRE THE SAME ACTS.

A. *Standard of Review:* Review of jury instruction issues is for errors at law. Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016). A failure to provide a requested instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Frei, 831 N.W.2d 70, 73 (Iowa 2013). Constitutional issues are reviewed de novo. Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984).

B. *Preservation of Error:* Error was preserved by counsel's objection to the instruction given and the court's adverse ruling. (Trial Tr. pp. 238 L 19-25, 239-254 L 1-25, 255 L 1-21, Jury Instructions 18, Robbery in the First Degree, 19 Robbery in the Second Degree, 20 Robbery in the Third Degree, 21 Simple Assault, 22 Assault Defined) (App. pp. 11, 12-15).

Counsel filed a motion for new trial alleging error based upon the instructions, but withdrew the motion prior to

sentencing. (Sent. Tr. pp. 2-8 L 1-25, 9 L 1-9). It is Ortiz' position that this did not waive the court's ruling at trial. Additionally, this jury instruction issue consists of structural error and, therefore, not subject to waiver or harmless error analysis. State v. Marshall, 2016 WL 4803763 at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. September 16, 2016) (citing United States v. Sanchez Guerrero, 546 F.3d 328, 332 (5th Cir.2008) and United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 150 (2006); Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 307-09, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 1264-65, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991)).

C. Discussion: A hearing on jury instructions was held after the close of all evidence. At hearing, counsel for Ortiz noted the problem with reconciling the jury instructions for robbery in the first degree and robbery in the second degree with the instruction for robbery in the third degree. (Tr. pp. 238 L 19-25, 239 L 1-23).

Counsel articulated the problem in terms associated with a conviction for robbery 2nd in a situation wherein there is no

explanation of exactly what behavior differentiates robbery 2nd from robbery 3rd. (Tr. p. 239 L 4-19).

Counsel went on to draw attention to the potential for producing a general verdict which "...does not reveal the basis for a guilty verdict" and prevents the reviewing court from addressing the legality of reasoning supporting the conviction. (Tr. p. 239 L 20-25). State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549, 559-59 (Iowa 2006). (Tr. pp. 239 L 24-25, 240-242 L 1-25, 243 L 1-3).

Counsel for Ortiz requested that the marshaling instructions for robbery 1st and 2nd be clarified with the addition of the phrase "committed an assault with the intent to inflict serious injury". (Tr. pp. 243 L 4-25, 244 L 1-5). Following argument, in which the State resisted, the court denied Ortiz request. (Tr. pp. 244 L 6-25, 245-254 L 1-25, 255 L 1-21).

Following conviction, Ortiz filed a motion for new trial on the basis of the assertion that the Robbery 2nd and 3rd

instructions describe the same offense as it is impossible to ascertain which theory (contained in Instruction No. 19) the jury relied upon thus producing a general verdict. (12/03/16 Motion for New Trial/Motion In Arrest of Judgment) (App. pp. 22-24).

The jury was given a reasonable doubt instruction as follows:

INSTRUCTION NO. 8

If there is a reasonable doubt as to any crime, the defendant shall only be convicted of the crime for which there is no reasonable doubt.

(Jury Instruction No. 8 No Reasonable Doubt) (App. p. 9).

The jury was also instructed on the concept of lesser-included offenses:

INSTRUCTION NO. 17

The allegations of the Trial Information in Count I includes not only the offense of Robbery in the First Degree but also the lesser included offenses of Robbery in the Second Degree, Robbery in the Third Degree, and Assault. You will convict the defendant of the highest of said above named offenses of which he is proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, if any, and you will acquit

him of any and all offenses of which he was not proven guilty.

(Jury Instruction No. 17 Lesser-Included Offenses) (App. p. 10).

With both offenses described in instructions 19 and 20 being equal, the jury would understand instruction 17 to require them to convict him of the greater offense.

“The Court both misdirected the jury on a material matter of law pursuant to Iowa R. Crim. Proc. 2.24(2)(b)(5), and the Court has refused to properly instruct the jury pursuant to Iowa R. Crim. Proc. 2.24(2)(b)(7).” (Motion for New Trial p. 1) (App. p. 22).

The instructions given at Ortiz’ trial are confusing and contradictory. Theoretically, the jury could have found Ortiz guilty under both instructions 19 and 20. (Jury Instructions No. 19 & 20) (App. pp. 12-13).

“When circumstances make it impossible for the court to determine whether a verdict rests on a valid legal basis or on an alternative invalid basis, we give the defendant the benefit

of the doubt and assume the verdict is based on the invalid ground.” State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288, 297 (Iowa 2010) (referencing State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549, 558–59 (Iowa 2006)). (See Motion for New Trial p. 2) (App. p. 23).

Ortiz has been prejudiced as it is impossible to ascertain which alternative it embraced in finding him guilty of Robbery in the Second Degree. The provision of counsel’s requested instruction would have shed some light the jury’s decision, but the court refused to so instruct the jury.

“[P]rejudice will be found ... where the instruction could reasonably have misled or misdirected the jury.” State v. Becker, 818 N.W.2d 135, 141 (Iowa 2012). The jury was given instructions (19 & 20) which were confusing and impossible to differentiate.

The jury could have made its determination on one of the following alternatives of element number 2:

- a. Committed an assault on Patricia Chavez or
- b. Threatened Patricia Chavez with or purposefully put Patricia Chavez in fear of immediate serious injury.

(Jury Instruction No. 19) (App. p. 12).

As argued below, the evidence does not prove that an assault occurred. However, neither does the evidence show that Ortiz threatened Chavez, or that he intentionally put her in fear of immediate serious injury.

“The present case falls under the principle that an instruction submitting an issue unsubstantiated by evidence is generally prejudicial.” State v. Mays, 204 N.W.2d 862, 865 (Iowa 1973) (citations omitted).

Complicating matters, is the redundancy of instructions 19 and 20 based upon the definition of assault. Iowa Code § 708.1(2). Ortiz has been prejudiced by this redundancy as the jury could have convicted him of Robbery in the Third Degree based upon instructions 19 and 20 when considered with the assault instruction and the instruction defining assault. (Jury Instructions 21 “Assault” and 22 “Definition of Assault”) (App. pp. 14-15).

In withdrawing his motion for new trial, Ortiz was persuaded to do so by the State's threat to file habitual offender enhancement upon retrial.

A defendant can establish prosecutorial vindictiveness through objective evidence that the prosecutor's decision to seek a more severe sentence was intended to punish the defendant for the exercise of a legal right.

U.S. v. Campbell, 410 F.3d 456, 461 (8th Cir. 2005) (*citing* United States v. Rodgers, 18 F.3d 1425, 1429 (8th Cir.1994)).

Objective proof of prosecutorial vindictiveness appears in the record of the instant matter. Counsel filed a motion for new trial based upon the incorrect jury instructions in question. (Motion for New Trial) (App. pp. 22-24). At hearing, prior to sentencing, counsel for Ortiz withdrew the motion for new trial based upon the prosecutor's stated intention of filing enhanced charges should a new trial be granted. (Sent. Tr. pp. 3 L 2-25, 4-8 L 1-25, 9 L 1-11). The State was even willing to concede to the request for a new trial, a tantamount admission to the complained of error. (Sent. Tr. p. 3 L 23-25).

Vindictiveness can also be seen in the State's threat to file the enhancement upon retrial as it would have increased his sentence from 10 years to 15. (Sent. Tr. pp. 4 L 11-25, 5 L 1-25, 6 L 1-10). See Iowa Code §§ 902.8, 902.9 & 902.12.

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