IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 16-1980

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

DUSTIN JAMES ORTIZ,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JEANIE K. VAUDT, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

THOMAS E. BAKKE
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
Thomas.Bakke@iowa.gov

JOHN P. SARCONI
Polk County Attorney

OLU A. SALAMI
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court did Not Err by Declining Ortiz’s Modification to the Proposed Robbery Jury Instructions, and if the Court did Err, such Error was Harmless.

Preservation of Error

The State agrees error is preserved. Dustin James Ortiz requested modification to the second degree robbery jury instruction and the court denied his request. *See* T.Tr. 238:19–255:16.

Standard of Review

Courts review preserved challenges to jury instructions for correction of errors at law. *State v. Frei*, 813 N.W.2d 70, 73 (Iowa 2013), *overruled on other grounds by Alcala v. Marriott Intern., Inc.*, 880 N.W.2d 699, 708 n.3 (Iowa 2016) (overruling cited cases insofar as they incorrectly extend abuse of discretion standard of review for failure to give a requested instruction). The Court’s “review is to determine whether the challenged instruction accurately states the law and is supported by substantial evidence.” *State v. Hanes*, 790 N.W.2d 545, 548 (Iowa 2010).

Error in giving a particular instruction does not require reversal unless the instruction was prejudicial to the complaining party. *Id.* (citing *State v. Spates*, 779 N.W.2d 770, 775 (Iowa 2010)). The State disagrees with Ortiz’s assertion that harmless error does not apply because there was a “structural error.” *See* Appellant’s Br. p. 22. Ortiz essentially argues the jury was “improperly instruct[ed] . . . on an element of the offense,” and not a “defect affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds” such as an erroneous reasonable-doubt instruction. *See Johnson v. U.S.*, 520 U.S. 461, 468-69 (1997) (quoting *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 310 (1991)).

The preserved error alleged here is whether Ortiz’s requested addition to the proposed second-degree robbery instruction was incorrectly denied. If Ortiz’s assertion is correct, this error is analogous to the jury being improperly instructed on an element of the crime. As such, if the complained of instructional error is found, harmless error analysis applies. *See id.*

Merits

During trial, Ortiz requested an addition to the second-degree robbery instruction. Ortiz requested that the wording of assault for second-degree robbery be modified to read, “committed an assault with the intent to inflict serious injury.” *See T.Tr. 243:17-21* (reasoning that this was the only non-simple assault alternative remaining under the evidence after excluding assault with a dangerous weapon, which is covered by first-degree robbery). Ortiz argued that without this addition, second and third degree robbery require identical conduct as instructed.

The State resisted, arguing that adding this language essentially added an additional element that needed to be proven when all that is required is that an assault needs to be established. *See T.Tr. 252:20–*

253:3. The court agreed and declined to add the additional language Ortiz requested. *See* T.Tr. 255:3-16.

The State submits that inclusion of this additional language was not error in this case because (1) the additional language exceeded the statutory definition of robbery and Ortiz's request was correctly denied, (2) it is not improper if the two statutes criminalize the same behavior, and (3) any error was harmless. The State further disagrees with Ortiz's claim of prosecutorial vindictiveness.

A. Ortiz's Request to Add Language Above and Beyond the Statutory Definition and Elements of Robbery was Appropriately Denied.

Regarding the assault element of second-degree robbery, the jury was instructed as follows:

To carry out [the specific intent to commit a theft] or to assist him in escaping from the scene . . . the defendant:

a. Committed an assault on Patricia Chavez or

b. Threatened Patricia Chavez with or purposefully put Patricia Chavez in fear of immediate serious injury.

Jury Instr. No. 19; App. 12. This language comes from the Iowa State Bar Association's model criminal jury instructions, merely omitting a third inapplicable alternative for assault ("Threatened to immediately

commit [a forcible felony]”). See Iowa State Bar Ass’n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instr. 1100.2 (2016).

Ortiz requested that the language of paragraph (a) be modified to read “a. Committed an assault with the intent to inflict serious injury on Patricia Chavez.” See T.Tr. 243:17-21. Ortiz argued that this was the only way to differentiate between the second and third degree robbery instructions. Ortiz essentially attempts to differentiate between a “simple assault” under Iowa Code section 708.2(6) and the remaining “serious assaults” under section 708.2(1)-(5). Because subsection (3) (using or displaying a dangerous weapon) is necessarily covered by first-degree robbery, and the facts did not support subsections (2) (bodily injury), (4) (serious injury), or (5) (penetration of genitalia or anus), Ortiz reasoned that the second-degree robbery instruction should include language from subsection (1), and third-degree robbery could remain simply as a generic assault. See Iowa Code §§ 708.2, 711.3, .3A; see also T.Tr. 242:20–243:3. The State submits that inclusion of this additional language would have incorporated an additional intent element not required by the robbery statute.

Iowa Code section 711.1 defines robbery:

A person commits a robbery when, having the intent to commit a theft, the person does any of the following acts to assist or further the commission of the intended theft or the person's escape from the scene thereof with or without the stolen property:

a. Commits an assault upon another.

b. Threatens another with or purposely puts another in fear of immediate serious injury.

c. Threatens to commit immediately any forcible felony.

Iowa Code § 711.1. While Ortiz wants the various alternatives from section 708.2 incorporated into the second degree robbery instruction, that is simply not what is required by the definition of robbery. *See id.* Adding this language into the statute essentially requires the State to prove elements not part of the statutory definition. *See id.* at 711.1, .3.

While third-degree robbery incorporates assault under section 708.2(6), second-degree robbery does not explicitly incorporate that section or the remaining subsections of 708.2. There is nothing that explicitly adds the requirement that one of the alternative of sections 708.2(1)-(5) need to be proven in order to establish second-degree robbery. *See id.* at 711.3.

Because Ortiz's requested additions exceed the statutory requirements of second-degree robbery, this Court should reject Ortiz's argument and affirm his conviction.

B. Even if Robbery Second and Third Required Identical Conduct in this Matter, There is Nothing Improper About Criminal Conduct Being Covered by Multiple Statutes Subject to Prosecutorial Discretion.

Ortiz bases much of his complaints about the second-degree robbery instruction on the fact that it could be read as requiring the same criminal conduct as third-degree robbery. However, even if this is the case, it is not improper for criminal conduct to be covered by multiple criminal statutes.

[E]ven if the statutes did overlap, common group would not be problematic. Overlap only prevents double convictions or double punishments, not a single conviction on one charge based on the prosecutor's charging discretion. As we have explained:

When a single act violates more than one criminal statute, the prosecutor may exercise discretion in selecting which charge to file. This is permissible even though the two offenses call for different punishments. It is common for the same conduct to be subject to different criminal statutes.

State v. Alvarado, 875 N.W.2d 713, 718 (Iowa 2016) (quoting *State v. Perry*, 440 N.W.2d 389, 391-92 (Iowa 1989)). “When there is sufficient evidence to charge a suspect with a particular crime, it does not matter that his conduct may also constitute a violation of a lesser offense with a lighter penalty. . . . [T]he prosecutor has discretion to choose what charges to file.” *State v. Anspach*, 627 N.W.2d 227, 233 (Iowa 2001) (citing *State v. Caskey*, 539 N.W.2d 176, 177-78 (Iowa 1995)). “It often happens that a defendant, by the same criminal act, violates more than one criminal statute. And it is not true as a legal proposition that, if his criminal act is covered by one statute, it cannot be covered by another.” *State v. Johns*, 140 Iowa 125, 118 N.W. 295, 298 (1906). Even if second and third degree robbery were instructed similarly, and require similar conduct for a conviction, this does not itself make the instructions—or a charging decision to charge the more serious offense—invalid.

Further, Ortiz complains that the lesser-included offense instruction would be read as instructing them to convict Ortiz of the most serious proven offense. The instructions states in part, “You will convict the defendant of the highest of said above names offenses of which he is proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” See Jury Instr.

No. 17; App. 10. This is simply a correct statement of the law. *See, e.g., Iowa Code § 701.9* (requiring merger of offenses into “the greater of the offenses”); *see also State v. Rodriguez*, 238 Iowa 18, 20, 25 N.W.2d 732, 733 (1947) (“This paragraph of the instruction directs the jury to acquit the defendant of any and all offenses of which they have a reasonable doubt, and convict him, if at all, of the highest offense submitted of which they are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt he is guilty. . . . The paragraph is . . . clear and could not be misunderstood.”).

The “redundancy” of the instructions should not be a factor requiring remand because it is necessarily true that lesser included offenses will have redundant elements and the jury is supposed to convict the defendant of the most serious proven offense. This Court should decline to reverse merely because the second and third degree robbery instructions require similar criminal conduct.

C. Even if the Court Erred in Declining Ortiz’s Addition to the Second Degree Robbery Instruction, Such Error was Harmless.

Appellate courts will not reverse because an objected to jury instruction was given in error unless the instruction was prejudicial to

the complaining party. This harmless error analysis has two dimensions:

“When the error is not of constitutional magnitude, the test of prejudice is whether it sufficiently appears that the rights of the complaining party have been injuriously affected or that the party has suffered a miscarriage of justice.” When the alleged instructional error is of constitutional magnitude, the burden is on the state to prove lack of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt.

Frei, 831 N.W.2d at 73 (citations omitted) (quoting *State v. Marin*, 788 N.W.2d 833, 836 (Iowa 2010), *overruled on other grounds by Alcala*, 880 N.W.2d at 708 n.3) (citing *Hanes*, 790 N.W.2d at 550).

Here, Ortiz’s claim falls in the first category, as it does not rise to constitutional magnitude because it is merely an argument over the proper elements for second-degree robbery. Ortiz was neither injuriously affected nor did he suffer a miscarriage of justice.

Even if the court should have accepted Ortiz’s request to include “with the intent to inflict a serious injury” there is no prejudice. As discussed in Division II below, there was substantial evidence to find Ortiz was armed with a knife (dangerous weapon or not). Because the jury necessarily found Ortiz had an intent to assault the shopkeeper with a knife, Ortiz would still have been convicted had the additional

language been included. Further, the alternative to assault under which the jury could have found Ortiz guilty required similarly that he “[t]hreatened Patricia Chavez with or purposefully put [her] in fear of immediate serious injury.” See Jury Instr. No. 19; App. 12. There is no prejudice by omitting Ortiz’s addition to second-degree robbery.

In the interest of candor, the State would note that the prosecuting attorney appeared ready to concede the prejudicial effect of the jury instructions during sentencing. See Sent. Tr. 10:8-25. However, the State submits that the State’s changing positions below merely highlight the fact that the bar is having difficulty reconciling precisely how to instruct robbery in light of the legislature’s addition of third-degree robbery.

This Court should find that Ortiz was not prejudiced by the court’s refusal to accept the requested language.

D. If Remand for a New Trial is Necessary, it is Premature to Evaluate Any Claims of Prosecutorial Vindictiveness as There has been No Retrial and No Attempt by the State to Add Additional Charges or Enhancements.

In the event a remand for a new trial is appropriate for this case, Ortiz appears to request an order preventing the State from filing a habitual offender enhancement based on perceived threats of

prosecutorial vindictiveness. The State submits that this claim is not ripe and respectfully requests that this Court decline to evaluate the claim as no additional charges have been filed. In the event additional charges are actually filed on remand, Ortiz can then pursue his claim of prosecutorial vindictiveness in the district court.

Preventing the State from pursuing additional charges without additional record is premature and this Court should decline to evaluate the claim before any “vindictiveness” has even occurred.

If this Court does decide to evaluate the claim, however, the State submits that filing a habitual offender enhancement in this case would not amount to prosecutorial vindictiveness. The alleged “vindictiveness” Ortiz cites is in fact the defense explaining that the State had indicated that because the habitual offender enhancement did not apply to Ortiz’s original charge, robbery in the first degree, were he to receive a new trial on robbery in the second degree the habitual offender enhancement *would* apply. *See* Sent Tr. 4:2-15. This is not vindictiveness but is simply a proper application of the criminal statutes.

The State pursued the most serious charge against Ortiz in his first trial (first-degree robbery), and it would only make sense that the

State would continue to pursue the most serious charge in a retrial. *See* Trial Info.; App. 4-5. Because first-degree robbery is foreclosed on retrial, the most serious charge that could be pursued is second-degree robbery with a habitual offender enhancement. As the defense conceded during sentencing, “I understand [the habitual offender enhancement] most likely was not filed in this case because Mr. Ortiz was charged with first degree robbery to start with, and that doesn’t apply to first degree robbery.” *See* Sent. Tr. 4:7-10.

When Ortiz was charged (and tried) with the offense first-degree robbery, he was facing a maximum of twenty-five years imprisonment with a 70% mandatory minimum. *See* Iowa Code §§ 902.9, .12(1). On retrial, Ortiz would be facing significantly less time, even with the habitual offender enhancement. *See id.* at 902.9. Even if Ortiz received and served the full 15 years of a habitual offender charge, it would still be less than 70% minimum of the maximum punishment for first-degree robbery. Ortiz is not prejudiced by the State’s continued effort to charge him with the most serious provable offense.

As the defense conceded, the only reason that State did not pursue the enhancement in the first instance was a result of statutory

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